Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-2-2013

American West Enterprises, Inc. v. CNH, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40230

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

i. Nature of the Case

The nature of this case on appeal seeks a review as to whether the District Court erred in awarding Summary Judgment in favor of respondent/cross-appellant.

ii. Course of Proceedings Before the Lower Court and its Disposition

On March 18, 2011, the plaintiff/appellant, American West Enterprises, Inc. (hereinafter "American West") filed its *Complaint* in Minidoka County District Court.

The *Complaint* improperly named Case New Holland, Inc., as defendant. American West alleged breach of the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose and additionally demanded reimbursement for the cost of parts and labor.

On May 16, 2011, the defendant filed its *Answer to Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial* in the name of CNH America, LLC, (hereinafter "CNH"). CNH's defense included the assertion that American West's claims were barred by a lack of privity between the parties.

On May 4, 2012, CNH filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Affidavit of William A. Fuhrman in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. (Tr. pg. II.) American West filed an Objection to Motion for Summary Judgment, Affidavit of Frank Jensen, Affidavit of Hal Anderson, Affidavit of Chuck Simmons, and Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint. (Tr. pg. II.) Oral argument on the motion for summary judgment and motion for leave to amend complaint was heard before the Honorable Jonathan Brody on June 11, 2012.

On July 13, 2012, the District Court issued its Memorandum Decision Granting

Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to

Amend Complaint. (Tr. pg. 70.) The Memorandum Decision granted CNH's motion for summary judgment and denied American West's motion to amend the complaint. The District Court found that privity of contract is required to recover for economic loss for breach of an implied warranty and that there was no privity of contract between the two parties. The District Court further found that American West was not a third party beneficiary to any contract between Pioneer Equipment and CNH and was therefore not entitled to enforce any contract between Pioneer and CNH. Lastly, the District Court found that Pioneer Equipment, although an authorized dealer of CNH, was not an agent of CNH. American West appeals each of these findings.

On July 18, 2012, the District Court issued its Judgment dismissing American West's claims. (Tr. pg. 80.)

iii. Concise Statement of Facts

On June 26, 1997, American West purchased a Case IH 3394 tractor (hereinafter "tractor") from Cameron Sales, Inc., which was CNH's authorized dealer and repair center. Subsequent to the purchase, Cameron Sales, Inc. was bought out by Pioneer Equipment Co., which remained CNH's authorized dealer and repair center.

In 2007, American West determined to sell the tractor but realized it needed a new engine. American West therefore hired Pioneer Equipment to install a new engine in the tractor. American West further requested that Pioneer Equipment order a new engine from CNH to install in the tractor. The new engine was obtained and installed in the tractor at a cost to American West of \$11,955.04.

After the engine was replaced, American West decided to keep the tractor and did so for two years. In that time, American West only used the tractor occasionally and put

approximately ten engine hours on the new engine. In the spring of 2009, the tractor was sold to Frank Jensen. Mr. Jensen put approximately five engine hours on the tractor before the engine blew up. Mr. Jensen returned the broken tractor to American West, which refunded him his purchase price and returned the tractor to Pioneer Equipment in order to diagnose the engine problem. The new engine in the tractor only had approximately fifteen hours on it at the time it blew up.

Pioneer Equipment tore down the engine to diagnose the problem and discovered that the engine supplied by CNH had a faulty valve spring that broke and caused the valve to drop down and contact the piston. This caused metal to be sent to the other pistons and valves resulting in catastrophic damage to the engine. It was also discovered by Pioneer Equipment that some of the valve springs in the new engine were used and out of character with the new engine. Pioneer Equipment than contacted CNH field representative Jeff Jensen and requested that the engine be warranted due to the faulty engine valve spring, but was told that the engine would not be warranted. Further attempts to obtain warranty service on the engine were unsuccessful and this action was commenced March 21, 2011.

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT FINDING THAT PRIVITY OF CONTRACT IS REQUIRED TO RECOVER FOR ECONOMIC LOSS FOR BREACH OF AN IMPLIED WARRANTY.

A. Idaho Cases/Law

CNH relied heavily upon the Salmon Rivers Sportsman Camps, Inc., v. Cessna Air Co., and the subsequent line of cases in their argument that privity of contract is

required in an action to recover economic loss for breach of implied warranties. *Salmon Rivers* 97 Idaho 348, 544 P.2d 306 (1975). The District Court, relying upon *Nelson v. Anderson Lumber Co.*, found in its *Memorandum Decision* that the Idaho Court of Appeals has reaffirmed, as recently as 2004, that privity of contract is required to recover economic loss for breach of implied warranties. *Nelson* 140 Idaho 702, 707 (Idaho Ct. App. 2004). The District Court further wrote that while it was "sympathetic to the possibility that the economic loss rule coupled with the privity requirement may result in little or no recovery for American West, it is not this court's prerogative to ignore precedent. *Memorandum of Decision* p.5. The District Court does not address the holdings of *State v. Mitchell Const. Co.* or *Tusch Enterprises v. Coffin*.

In *Mitchell Const. Co.*, this Court did not directly address the issue of privity in relation the economic loss rule in its holding, rather Summary Judgment was affirmed on other principles. *State v. Mitchell Const. Co.*, 108 Idaho 335, 699 P.2d 1349 (1984). However, in *dictum* three Justices voice their opinion that the previous holding in *Salmon Rivers* was no longer valid.

Chief Justice Donaldson expressly did not concur with the majority opinion in regards to *Salmon Rivers*. *Id.* at 337, 1351. Rather, Chief Justice Donaldson wrote that he could not concur in the adoption or approval of the previous holding in *Salmon Rivers*. *Id.* at 338, 1352. In reaching his decision, he relied upon an Alaskan Supreme Court case:

It is not the merchant who has defectively manufactured the product. Nor is it usually the merchant who advertises the product on such a large scale as to attract customers. We have in our society literally scores of large, financially responsible manufacturers who place their wares in the stream of commerce not only with the realization, but with

the avowed purposes, that these goods will find their way into the hands of the consumer. Only the consumer will use these products; and only the consumer will be injured by them should they prove defective.

Morrow v. New Moon Homes, Inc., 548 P.2d 279 (Alaska 1976) citing Kassab v. Central Sova, 432 Pa. 217, 246 A.2d 848, 853 (1968).

Justice Huntley, in his dissenting opinion, wrote that the "continued validity of *Salmon Rivers* is questionable—the requirement... of privity in implied warranty for economic loss did not make sense when the decision was written and its application has resulted in substantial injustice to many litigants in Idaho since 1975. We should simply overrule that case at this time." *Mitchell Const.* at 339, 1353.

Upon rehearing the case after remand, Chief Justice Donaldson and Justice Huntley continued to adhere to their previous opinions. Justice Bistline, however, changed positions and wrote: "I now fully agree with the view earlier expressed by Chief Justice Donaldson and Justice Huntley that *Salmon Rivers* should be overruled, and so vote." *Id.* at 341, 1355. Justice Bistline continued: "Unless I misread Judge Schroeder's opinion, he would not have granted the summary judgment if *Salmon Rivers* had not been in place. If, as it appears, there are three votes to overrule that case, the summary judgment should be reversed and the case remanded to the district court for reconsideration." *Id.*

The result of the *Mitchell Const.* case was there were three votes out of five to overturn the privity requirements set out in *Salmon Rivers*. The requirement of privity in cases that dealt solely with economic loss had been overturned; however there was no clear statement from this Court articulating this result.

The clear and concise statement regarding the continued validity of the *Salmon Rivers* privity requirement came from Justice Bistline in his concurrence in *Tusch Enterprises v. Coffin.* Justice Bistline wrote: "Having concurred in the majority opinion, I write only to inform the trial bench and bar that the *Salmon Rivers v. Cessna Aircraft Co.* case, which is recognized as having continued by doubtful validity in the opinion for the Court, was specifically overruled in the *State v. Mitchell* case..." *Tusch Enterprises v. Coffin,* 113 Idaho 37, 740 P.2d 1022 (1987).

In the *Tusch Enterprises* case, this court addressed but did not decide the issue of privity in relation to the economic loss rule. Rather, the Court decided the issue of privity in relation to subsequent purchasers of residential dwellings and the ability of subsequent purchasers to rely upon the implied warranty of habitability. *Id.* at 1035, 50. Specifically, the court overturned any requirement of privity of contract between a builder and subsequent purchasers of residential dwellings who suffer purely economic losses from latent defects that manifest themselves within a reasonable amount of time. *Id.* The Court expressed that any other holding would lead to an "absurd result." *Id.* at 1036, 51.

The *Tusch Enterprises* court relied upon its previous decision in *Clark v. International Harvester Co.*, in reaching its decision. *Id.* at 1035, 50. In *Clark*, the court held that a party suffering only economic losses could not recover under a negligence theory. *Clark v. International Harvester Co.*, 99 Idaho 326, 581 P.2d 784 (1978). The *Tusch Enterprises* court explained this decision: "The rationale behind that decision was to allow the law of contracts to resolve disputes concerning economic losses. If, however, in the area of pure economic losses, negligence is to be preempted by contract

principles, as we ruled in *Clark*, then contract principles must be given a freer hand to deal with injuries the law has typically redressed." *Tusch Enterprises* at 1035, 50. The *Tusch Enterprises* court continued: "Therefore, we decline to extend the privity requirement enunciated in *Salmon Rivers* to the facts at hand. The instant case is not a goods case, and the question regarding the continued vitality of *Salmon Rivers* in such cases is better left to another day when a response on our part would be something more than mere dictum." *Id.* (emphasis added).

In 1999, this Court again addressed the issue of privity of contract in cases of economic loss in *Ramerth v. Hart. Ramerth v. Hart*, 133 Idaho 194, 983 P.2d 848 (1999). In that case, the Court wrote that "Salmon Rivers has been the subject of substantial debate regarding the desirability of the rule that it announced as well as its continuing validity." *Id.* at 198, 852. The *Ramerth* Court, however, read the *Tusch Enterprises* decision that the question regarding the continued vitality of *Salmon Rivers* in [cases of economic loss] is better left to another day when a response would be something more than dictum as continued affirmation of the *Salmon Rivers* rule. *Id.* The Court wrote: "Despite Justice Bistline's opinion, however, the majority opinion in *Tusch* recognized the continuing validity of *Salmon Rivers*… We conclude, therefore, that *Salmon Rivers* remains valid. We are not persuaded that the rule announced in *Salmon Rivers* should be further relaxed to allow a claim for breach of implied warranty on the facts of this case."

The *Salmon River* string of cases has resulted in consumers being put in a difficult position. The *Clark* case found that a party suffering only economic loss could not recover under a negligence theory. This left contract theory as the sole means of redress

for plaintiffs suffering only economic loss. *Tusch Enterprises* relaxed the privity requirement in a very narrow instance as it "would lead to an absurd result." *Tusch Enterprises* at 1036, 51. Dictum in both *Tusch Enterprises* and *Mitchell Const.* indicate that *Salmon Rivers* and its privity requirement have been overruled. The *Ramerth* Court concluded that *Salmon Rivers* remains valid and shouldn't be relaxed on the facts that were before the court.

Therefore, it appears that American West has no redress through negligence theory given the holding of *Clark*. Furthermore, American West has no redress through contract theory because of the holdings of *Salmon Rivers* and *Ramerth* which exclude American West's claim due to a lack of contractual privity with the manufacturer of the engine, CNH. However, this appears to be the set of facts, as this is a "goods case" for which there is only economic loss, which the *Tusch Enterprises* Court had in mind in order for the Court to respond with a concise decision that would be "more than mere dictum." *Tusch Enterprises* at 1035, 50.

B. Other Jurisdictions

Some jurisdictions have now abolished privity requirements in warranty actions where only economic losses were sought. In Nevada and Pennsylvania, the requirement has been done away with as there is "no reason to distinguish between recovery for personal and property injury, on the one hand, and economic loss on the other." *Hiles Co. v. Johnston Pump Co.*, 93 Nev. 73, 560 P.2d 154, 157 (1977); *accord Salvador v. Atlantic Steel Boiler Co.*, 256 Pa.Super. 330, 389 A.2d 1148 (1978).

In Missouri, the Court adopted the view that abolishing privity "simply recognizes that economic loss is potentially devastating to the buyer of an unmerchantable product

and that it is unjust to preclude any recovery from the manufacturer for such loss because of a lack of privity, when the slightest physical injury can give rise to strict liability under the same circumstances." *Groppel Co. Inc.*, v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 616 S.W.2d 49 (Mo.App.1981).

In Texas, the privity requirement is not needed to assert a claim for breach of an implied warranty against a remote manufacturer of a finished product. *Hininger v. Case Corp.*, 23 F.3d 124 (5th Cir. 1994).

In New York it was determined that a buyer from a dealer could sue the manufacturer for direct economic loss for defective breaking system in a truck. *Hubbard* v. *General Motors Corp.*, 39 U.C.C.2d 83 (S.D.N.Y. 1996).

The Court of Appeals for the Third District of Indiana summarized the purpose of privity as follows:

Generally privity extends to the parties to the contract of sale. It relates to the bargained for expectations of the buyer and seller. Accordingly, when the cause of action arises out of economic loss related to the loss of the bargain or profits and consequential damages related thereto, the bargained for expectations of buyer and seller are relevant and privity between them is still required.

Implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular use, as they relate to economic loss from the bargain, cannot then ordinarily be sustained between the buyer and a remote manufacturer.

Richards v. Goerg Boar and Motors, Inc., 179 Ind.App. 102, 384 N.E.2d 1084 (Ind.App.1977).

The Indiana Supreme Court expounded upon this privity requirement in *Hyundai*Motor America, Inc. v. Goodin. In that case, the Court pointed out that the rationale of the privity requirement has "eroded to the point of invisibility as applied to many types of

N.E.2d 947, (2005). The *Hyundai* Court explained that the UCC recognizes an implied warranty of merchantability if "goods" are sold to "consumers" by one who ordinarily deals in this product. *Id.* at 958. The *Hyundai* Court further explained that doing away with the privity requirement simply gives the consumer the contract they expected, while the manufacturer is encouraged to build quality into its products. *Id.* at 989. The Court continued: "To the extent there is a cost of adding uniform or standard quality in all products, the risk of a lemon is passed to all buyers in the form of pricing and not randomly distributed among those unfortunate enough to have acquired one of the lemons. Moreover, elimination of privity requirement gives consumers... the value of their expected bargain." *Id.*

C. <u>Absurd Result Under Existing Law</u>

The privity requirement combined with the economic loss rule is draconian and ill-equipped to deal with the realities of today's market place. A majority of products purchased by consumers are not purchased directly from the manufacturer and the consumer generally has no relationship with the manufacturer. Rather, products typically reach the consuming public through intermediaries.

As it stands, if the consuming public suffers economic loss from a product they purchased, they must commence an action against the intermediary or distributor they purchased the product from who then must join the next intermediary or distributor until every intermediary or distributor that has been involved in the transaction, no matter how minimally, has been included in the chain of actions. Judicial efficiency and conflict resolution are clearly not advanced by the privity requirement.

In the case at hand, American West purchased, at great cost, a motor from an authorized dealer of CNH. CNH did not provide a warranty on the motor, therefore implied warranties attached to the engine. American West expected to have a new, good, and workmanlike motor. However, the motor self-destructed due to a faulty valve spring that appeared to not even be new. American West clearly did not receive the benefit of their bargain. CNH however, has no reason to fear making faulty, inferior or defective products because they rarely sell goods directly to the consuming public, and are therefore insulated from liability because of the privity requirement. Rather, CNH sells products through their authorized dealers.

It was not Pioneer Equipment, the authorized dealer, who defectively manufactured the product. Nor was it Pioneer Equipment that was injured economically by its defect. However, under the privity requirement Pioneer Equipment should have been sued for the faulty motor. As the Court in the *Tusch Enterprises* case found, this would result in an "absurd result." *Tusch Enterprises* at 1036, 51.

2. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT AMERICAN WEST WAS NOT A THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY.

CNH argues that as there is no written contract between any of the parties in this case, there is no ambiguity regarding the intent of the contract and the circumstances surrounding any agreement between the parties intent may not be considered. *Reply Memorandum in Support of MSJ* p. 3. The District Court however, believed that the facts were sufficient to provide enough evidence to construe the contract between Pioneer Equipment and CNH. *Memorandum Decision* p. 6. The District Court found that there

was no evidence that the contract between Pioneer Equipment and CNH reflected intent to benefit American West. *Id*.

In reaching its Decision, the District Court found that although American West argued that the engine was ordered specifically for the benefit and use of American West, the fact that Pioneer Equipment charged \$3,000 for labor shows that Pioneer Equipment intended only to benefit itself. *Id*.

The District Court did not address the Affidavit of Hal Anderson or the Affidavit of Chuck Simmons in its Memorandum Decision.

In making its Decision, the District Court relied upon *Idaho Power Co. v. Hulet*, which provides that the issue of whether a party is an intended beneficiary is one of contract construction. *Idaho Power Co. v. Hulet*, 140 Idaho 110 (2004). In construing a contract, a court should look to the "apparent purpose the parties are trying to accomplish." *Id.* at 113. The District Court wrote that as there is no written contract, there is no document to construe to determine whether the contract itself reflects intent to benefit American West. *Memorandum Decision* p. 5-6. Therefore, under the District Courts decision, there can never be an intended third party beneficiary in the absence of a written agreement.

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