UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-11-2013

American West Enterprises, Inc. v. CNH, LLC Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40230

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment in This Case Because There Was No Privity of Contract between American West and CNH.

In 1975, in *Salmon River Sportsman Camps, Inc. v. Cessna Aircraft Co.*, this Court held that privity of contract is required to maintain a breach of implied warranty action for purely economic losses. *See Salmon River Sportsman Camps, Inc. v. Cessna Aircraft Co.*, 97 Idaho 348, 355, 544 P.2d 306, 313 (1975). Since that time, and as recently as 2004, the Idaho appellate courts have followed *Salmon River Sportsman*, holding that a remote purchaser cannot bring a warranty action against a manufacturer to recover economic loss in the absence of privity. *See Ramerth v. Hart*, 133 Idaho 194, 198, 983 P.2d 848, 852 (1999); *Nelson v. Anderson Lumber Co.*, 140 Idaho 702, 99 P.3d 1092 (Ct. App. 2004).

The basis for the privity requirement is the idea that the parties to an agreement are free to bargain for themselves and allocate between them the risk of a product's failure. In other words, the privity requirement reinforces the principle that the law should not impose a contract that the parties did not wish to make. The privity requirement in suits brought by the ultimate purchaser of a product also serves to prevent "absurd and outrageous consequences" involving unlimited exposure of manufacturers to liability. William L. Prosser, *The Assault Upon the Citidel*, 69 Yale L.J. 1099, 1134 (1960). The present case serves as a good example, as it involves a lawsuit filed two years after the alleged failure of the Tractor's engine and approximately four years after the engine was replaced by the seller.

The privity requirement further serves to reinforce the boundaries between tort and contract.

In *Salmon River Sportsman*, this Court noted that although Professor Prosser "had criticized the use of the warranty concept to enlarge recovery in tort," he had also "stated in absolute terms the requirement of privity in a contract action for breach of warranty, regardless of the type of warranty or the type of recovery." *Id.* at 353-54, 544 P.2d at 311-12 (citing Prosser, *The Assault Upon the Citidel*, at 1134) ("No one doubts that, unless there is privity, liability to the consumer must be in tort and not in contract.")).

In its opening brief, America West sets forth three arguments as to why the Court should overturn nearly forty years of Idaho jurisprudence requiring privity of contract in a breach of warranty action seeking purely economic loss. First, American West contends that the cumulative result of Idaho caselaw has left it with no available legal redress. Second, American West suggests that since other jurisdictions have done away with the privity requirement in breach of warranty cases, Idaho should do the same. Third, American West contends that because this case involves goods, as opposed to services, the privity requirement should be relaxed. As discussed in more detail below, however, each of American West's arguments is misplaced.

1. American West Chose Not to Avail Itself of an Available Legal Remedy and is Therefore Not Unfairly Prejudiced by the Privity Requirement.

American West contends that, as a result of the privity requirement, it has no redress though contract theory because the Court's decisions in *Salmon River Sportsman* and *Ramerth v. Hart* preclude its claim for breach of implied warranty. Notably, the plaintiffs in *Nelson v. Anderson Lumber Co.*, like American West, argued that their case was "the case" the Idaho Supreme Court spoke of in *Ramerth v. Hart* when it mentioned that "there may be cases where the plaintiff may be

unfairly prejudiced by the operation of the economic loss rule in combination with the privity requirement." *Id.* (quoting *Ramerth v. Hart,* 133 Idaho 194, 198, 983 P.2d 848, 852 (1999)).

In *Nelson*, the plaintiff homeowners asserted claims for breach of the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose against various individuals and entities when it was discovered that the cabin they had built did not meet the county's snow load requirements. *Id.* at 705, 99 P.3d at 1095. The *Nelson* court noted, however, that although the plaintiffs in that case were precluded from recovery on their implied warranty claims based upon the privity requirement, the plaintiffs still had a viable cause of action against the party with which they contracted with to design and obtain the materials to build their cabin. 140 Idaho at 711, 99 P.3d at 1101. Similarly, in this case, based upon the alleged failure of the Tractor's engine, American West had a viable cause of action for breach of contract against the party it directly dealt with, i.e., Pioneer Equipment. CNH should not be substituted in Pioneer Equipment Company's place because American West failed to take advantage of an available legal remedy against the party with whom it dealt. *Cf.*, *Nelson*, 140 Idaho at 711, 99 P.3d at 1101 ("The fact that the [plaintiffs] may not be fully compensated for their losses does not mean that the [plaintiffs] have been unfairly prejudiced <u>nor</u> does it persuade us to allow recovery against another party") (emphasis added).

2. Numerous Jurisdictions Continue to Adhere to the Privity Requirement in Breach of Warranty Actions Alleging Purely Economic Loss.

America West next argues that other jurisdictions have abolished the privity requirement, thus suggesting that Idaho should do the same. American West ignores, however, that a large number of jurisdictions across the country continue to adhere to the privity requirement. For

7

example, in the recent case of *Curl v. Volkswagon of America, Inc.*, the Supreme Court of Ohio, held that the purchasers of vehicles may only assert a contract claim for breach of implied warranty against parties with whom they are in privity of contract. 871 N.E. 2d 1141, 1142 (Ohio 2007). Notably, the *Curl* court cited a "significant number of states retaining privity requirements in some form for parties asserting claims of breach of implied warranty." *Id.* at 1147 (citing decisions from Alabama, Arizona, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, New York, North Carolina, Oregon, Tennessee, Washington, and Wisconsin). The privity requirement in breach of warranty cases involving purely economic loss thus continues to be the law in numerous jurisdictions throughout the country.

3. The Idaho Court of Appeals Has Upheld the Privity Requirement in an Analogous "Goods" Case.

American West last asserts that the Court should decline to follow well settled Idaho law requiring privity in a contract action to recover economic loss for breach of implied warranties on the basis that this is a "goods," as opposed to a "services," case. As noted above, however, in *Nelson*, the Idaho Court of Appeals upheld the privity requirement in a "goods" case involving building materials for a cabin. I40 Idaho 702, 99 P.3d 1092. In *Nelson*, the trial court determined that no contract existed between the plaintiffs and any of the defendants who answered the plaintiffs' complaint including, significantly, the manufacturer of the wall panels used in constructing the plaintiff's cabin. *Id.* at 706, 99 P.3d at 1096. On appeal, the Idaho Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's ruling, citing the lack of privity of contract as an

necessary element to succeed on claims of breach of the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. *Id.* at 707, 99 P.3d at 1097. American West's reliance on the "goods" versus "services" distinction is therefore misplaced.

B. The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment in This Case Because No Contract Existed Between CNH and Pioneer Equipment Company From Which American West Could Be a Third Party Beneficiary.

1. There is No Evidence in the Record of an Express Intent to Benefit American West.

Idaho Code Section 29-102 provides that a contract made expressly for the benefit of a third person may be enforced by the third person at any time before the parties thereto rescind it. *Nelson*, 140 Idaho at 708, 99 P.3d at 1098 (citing *Cannon Builders, Inc. v. Rice,* 126 Idaho 616, 622, 888 P.2d 790, 796 (Ct. App.1995)). The test for determining a party's status as a third-party beneficiary is whether the agreement reflects an intent to benefit the third party. *Idaho Power Co. v. Hulet,* 140 Idaho 110, 112, 90 P.3d 335, 337 (2004). Thus, in order for a third party beneficiary to recover on a breach of contract claim, the third party must show that the contract was made for its direct benefit and that it is more than a mere incidental beneficiary. *Id.* (citing *Adkison Corp. v. American Bldg. Co.,* 107 Idaho 406, 409, 690 P.2d 341, 344 (1984)). Notably, the contract itself must express an intent to benefit the third party. *Id.*

In the present case, as noted by the district court, there is no evidence in the record of a written agreement between CNH and Pioneer Equipment Company. As a result, there can be no written expression of an intent to benefit American West. Moreover, to the extent there was an oral "agreement" between CNH and Pioneer Equipment Company for the purchase and sale of

the Tractor engine, there is no evidence in the record that American West was the intended beneficiary. American West argues that the Affidavit of Chuck Simmons indicates that the Tractor's engine was ordered specifically from CNH for the benefit of American West. As noted by the district court, however, American West was a beneficiary "only in the sense that anyone who takes their vehicle into a mechanic is a beneficiary when that mechanic must order parts to repair the vehicle." R., p. 75.

What is clear from the record in this case is that CNH had no knowledge, implied or otherwise, of the Tractor at issue or that the Tractor belonged to anyone in particular. Thus, under the undistputed facts of the case, American West was, at best, an incidental beneficiary of Pioneer Equipment Company's purchase of the engine from CNH, whether that purchase is termed an "agreement" or not. As a result, American West cannot be an intended beneficiary of CNH's "agreement" to provide the engine for the Tractor.

2. The *Reed v. City of Chicago* Decision is Clearly Distinguishable.

American West also cites to the decision by the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois in *Reed v. City of Chicago* as support for the position that a remote plaintiff may maintain an action for breach of implied warranty as a third party beneficiary. 263 F. Supp.2d 1123 (N.D. Ill. 2003). The *Reed* case, however, is distinguishable from this case in several important respects. For instance, the plaintiff in *Reed*, the mother of a young man who hung himself while in a detention cell by using a paper isolation gown made and designed by the defendant, did not have purely economic losses – a fact the *Reed* court noted when it stated that, in designing and manufacturing the isolation gown, the safety of detainees "was necessarily a

part of the bargain, whether explicitly or implicitly, between the seller and buyer." *Id.* at 1126. The *Reed* court also pointed out that in Illinois, the Supreme Court had made clear that the privity requirement still existed in breach of implied warranty cases involving purely economic loss. *Id.* at 1125, n. 2 (citing *Szajna v. General Motors Corp.*, 503 N.E.2d 760, 767 (Ill. 1986)). Here, as noted above, there is no allegation of personal injury. The public policy concerns regarding safety (i.e., "[i]f protection is not provided to plaintiffs like Reed, any warranty as to the safety of the gown would have little, if any effect") underlying the court's decision in *Reed* are simply not present under the facts of this case.

C. The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment in This Case Because Pioneer Equipment was not CNH's agent.

Last, while conceding that no contract existed between American West and CNH, American West argues that its implied warranty claims should still succeed based upon the theory that Pioneer Equipment was CNH's agent with respect to the purchase and sale of the engine. There are three separate types of agency, any of which are sufficient to bind the principal to a contract entered into by an agent with a third party. *Bailey v. Ness*, 109 Idaho 495, 497, 708 P.2d 900, 902 (1985). The three types of agencies are: express authority, implied authority, and apparent authority. *Id.* Both express and implied authority are forms of actual authority. *Id.* Express authority refers to that authority which the principal has explicitly granted the agent to act in the principal's name. *Id.* Implied authority refers to that authority delegated to the agent by the principal. *Id.* Here, there is no evidence in the record of any express authority and, therefore, no actual authority was expressly granted or impliedly conferred upon Pioneer Equipment Company by CNH.

Apparent authority differs from express and implied authority in that it is not based on the words and conduct of the principal toward the agent, but on the principal's words and conduct toward a third party. *Tri–Circle, Inc. v. Brugger Corp.*, 121 Idaho 950, 954–55, 829 P.2d 540, 544–45 (Ct. App. 1992). As a result, apparent authority cannot arise from the acts and statements of the agent alone; it must be based upon the principal's words and conduct. *See Idaho Title Co. v. American States Ins. Co.*, 96 Idaho 465, 468, 531 P.2d 227, 230 (1975). In this case, there is no evidence in the record of an act or statement by anyone from CNH suggesting that Pioneer Equipment was acting as CNH's agent with respect to Pioneer Equipment's sale of the Tractor engine to American West. To the contrary, as noted by the district court, Pioneer Equipment was acting solely on its own behalf when procuring the engine to complete its contract with American West.

American West also incorrectly asserts that because Pioneer Equipment was an "authorized dealer" of CNH products, it was – and had authority to act as – CNH's agent. American West's argument ignores both that Pioneer Equipment Company was acting on its own accord in selling the engine to American West and that courts in multiple other jurisdictions have rejected the same "authorized dealer" argument. *See, e.g., Bruce v. ICI Americas, Inc.,* 933 F. Supp. 781, 789–790 (S.D. Iowa 1996) (insufficient control by manufacturer over authorized distributors to create question of material fact regarding existence of principal-agent relationship); *Doll v. Ford Motor Co.,* 814 F. Supp. 2d 526, 540 (D. Md. 2011) ("In the

Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs have not pled any facts to show that an agency relationship existed between Ford and the dealer. Plaintiffs merely state that the Illinois dealership from which Abraham bought his car is an authorized Ford dealership. (Am. Compl. \P 6). This sole fact fails to demonstrate the existence of an agency relationship."); Connick v. Suzuki Motor Co., Ltd., 675 N.E.2d 584, 592 (Ill. 1997) ("Plaintiffs, in their complaint, alleged that they 'purchased their vehicles from authorized Suzuki dealers, who were agents of defendants,' and further alleged that certain named plaintiffs 'understood' the local Suzuki dealers to be agents of Suzuki. Such allegations alone are mere legal conclusions and thus insufficient to plead agency because they contain no facts to support a finding that the local Suzuki dealers had actual or apparent authority to act on Suzuki's behalf."); Cline v. Allis-Chalmers Corp., 690 S.W.2d 764, 769 (Ky. Ct. App.1985) (simply being an "authorized dealer" is insufficient to establish true agency); Theos & Sons, Inc. v. Mack Trucks, Inc., 729 N.E.2d 1113, 1122 (Mass. 2000) ("Similarly, Vigor's representation of itself as an authorized parts and service dealer of Mack is not a sufficient ground for Theos to reasonably believe that Vigor had apparent authority to act as Mack's agent").

D. CNH is Entitled to an Award of Attorney Fees, Both on Appeal and in the Underlying Litigation.

Idaho Code Section 12–120(3) allows for an award of attorney fees to the prevailing party in a civil action to recover "in any commercial transaction." A commercial transaction includes all transactions except those for personal or household purposes. *See* Idaho Code § 12–120(3). Here, the district court ruled that CNH was not entitled to attorney fees under § 12-120(3), despite

American West's contention that it was a third party beneficiary of an agreement between CNH and Pioneer Equipment for the purchase and sale of the Tractor's engine.

Whether a district court has correctly determined that a case is based on a commercial transaction for the purpose of Idaho Code Section 12-120(3) is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. *See Great Plains Equip., Inc. v. Northwest Pipeline Corp.,* 136 Idaho 466, 470, 36 P.3d 218, 222 (2001). Pertinent to the inquiry as to whether allegations made by American West in this case can invoke application of § 12–120(3) is this Court's decision in *Magic Lantern Productions, Inc. v. Dolsot,* 126 Idaho 805, 892 P.2d 480 (1995). In that case, the *Magic Lantern* court stated:

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